FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/13/2021 4:33 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/14/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>1002</u>10-6 (COA No. 53390-1-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BYRON SPEAR,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
katehuber@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Byron Spear petitions this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' June 29, 2021, opinion. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). The court denied reconsideration on August 20, 2021.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In *State v. Mutch*,¹ this Court held a court's failure to instruct the jury clearly that overlapping charges must be based on separate and distinct acts creates a presumptively prejudicial double jeopardy violation that will be harmless in only the rarest of circumstances. The Court of Appeals ignored the strict review required by *Mutch* and instead deferentially reviewed the error. Rather than presume prejudice, it refused to credit evidence showing the jury's confusion over the separate and distinct requirement and disregarded the prosecution's ambiguous argument about the charges. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals analysis conflicts with *Mutch* and shows the substantial public importance of

¹ 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011).

reaffirming that the prosecution must prove the absence of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt when this constitutional error occurs.

- 2. Due process requires the court make the law manifestly apparent to the jury. The jury asked the court if its verdict needed to be unanimous, demonstrating it did not understand the law, but the court refused to give Mr. Spear's requested response and instead told the jury to reread the original instructions it already read that spawned the question. The court's refusal to tell the jury any verdict had to be unanimous violated the court's duty to make the law manifestly apparent to the jury. How a trial court should respond to a note reflecting the jurors' misunderstanding of the law is also a matter of substantial public interest that implicates significant constitutional rights and merits this Court's review.
- 3. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, article I, sections 3 and 22, and the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) prohibit courts from including out-of-state convictions in a

person's offender score unless the State proves the convictions are comparable to a Washington felony. The court included in Mr. Spear's offender score two Idaho prior convictions that are not comparable to Washington felonies. The Court of Appeals ignored this constitutional violation because it conflated a person's *criminal history* with his *offender score* and misinterpreted Mr. Spear's acknowledgement of his criminal history as a stipulation to his offender score. This Court should accept review to address this misapprehension of the SRA and to correct the misunderstanding of the constitutional requirements for inclusion of prior convictions in an offender score.

4. Sentencing courts may not impose discretionary community custody conditions unless they are directly related to the crime of conviction and pass constitutional muster. The court ordered Mr. Spear to "submit to testing and reasonable searches of [his] person, residence, and vehicle" to ensure he was not using controlled substances. Where Mr. Spear's crimes

of conviction did not involve controlled substances, the condition was not crime related and therefore unauthorized.

The requirement of suspicionless testing and warrantless searches also violates Mr. Spear's rights under article I, section 7 and the Fourth Amendment. This Court should accept review to address this sentencing error and constitutional violation.

5. The Court of Appeals declined to address Mr. Spear's constitutional challenge to this condition because Mr. Spear "has not been subjected" to the condition yet because he is still incarcerated. This Court should accept review because the opinion conflicts with this Court's opinions permitting people to challenge unconstitutional conditions when a court imposes them.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The government charged Byron Spear with three counts of first degree rape of a child and two counts of first degree child molestation for sexual acts with his niece occurring during the same time period: "between October 1, 2016 and July 31,

2017." CP 3-4. The prosecution declined to specify any particular date or act for any of the five counts. CP 3-4.

Mr. Spear's niece, A.R.S., testified Mr. Spear performed oral sex on her between five to ten times during that time period. RP 280. She also testified to at least four other acts of sexual contact during the identical time range. RP 278-86. The prosecution did not elicit information concerning specific dates or events to distinguish one incident from any of the other incidents. RP 270-94.

Another witness, G.M.F., testified Mr. Spear described an incident to her in which his niece touched him sexually. RP 387-88. G.M.F. also told police Mr. Spear told her he had oral sex with A.R.S., although she admitted at trial that Mr. Spear did not actually tell her that. RP 388-91. Finally, the prosecution presented a nurse who examined A.R.S. and found no evidence of physical trauma. RP 344, 359. The nurse testified A.R.S. described multiple incidents of oral sex and

sexual touching. RP 342. None of the witnesses offered any dates or details distinguishing the incidents from one another.

Mr. Spear denied ever having sexual intercourse or contact with A.R.S. RP 469, 488. He also denied having told G.M.F. that he did. RP 470, 488-89.

The court read to the jury identical "to convict" instructions for each count of rape and each count of molestation. CP 87-89, 93-94. The court also told the jury all five counts charged conduct occurring during the identical time period: "on or between October 1, 2016 and July 31, 2017." CP 87-89, 93-94.

The court instructed the jury it had to reach a unanimous verdict and it must unanimously agree as to which act has been proven. CP 78, 83, 91. The court also instructed the jury a separate crime was charged in each count. CP 79. But the court did not instruct the jury an act forming the basis for one count could not also form the basis for another count.

After it began deliberations, the jury twice requested clarification from the court on the law. First, the jury asked:

Upon reading instruction 7. Do we have to be unanimous on all counts? If we do not have a unanimous vote how is it reported on the verdict form?

$CP 74.^{2}$

The defense suggested the court address the question directly. "[S]ince there appears to be perhaps confusion about the law, I think it's appropriate for the Court to answer the question. I do think it would be appropriate to make sure the jury understands that any verdict must be unanimous." RP 559. When the court expressed concern such an instruction could be construed as informing the jury it had to reach a verdict, Mr. Spear offered a simpler, more direct answer to the jury's

² Instruction No. 7 acknowledged the multiple allegations of rape and told the jury for any count, "one particular act" must be proved and it "must unanimously agree as to which act has been proved," but it "need not unanimously agree that the defendant committed all the acts." CP 83. The court gave a corresponding instruction for the molestation counts. CP 91.

question: "In order to reach a verdict on any count, that verdict must be unanimous." RP 560.

The court rejected the defense's request to answer the jury's question directly and to inform it any verdict had to be unanimous. Instead, the court followed the State's suggestion and responded, "Please reread your instructions." CP 74.

The jury sent a second note, again seeking guidance from the court on the law.

Do all 3 counts need to be a different act or can they be multiple occurances [sic] of the same type of act.

CP 101.

The court did not tell the jury each count had to be based on different, separate and distinct acts. Instead, the court repeated its previous instruction, "Please re-read the instructions." CP 101.

The jury convicted Mr. Spear of all counts. CP 96-100.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip op. at 1.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. In a multiple acts case where the court failed to give a separate and distinct instruction, the Court of Appeals opinion affirming the convictions conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v. Mutch* and misapplies the test requiring reversal due to the double jeopardy violation.
 - a. The court's incomplete and confusing instructions and its failure to answer the jury's question permitted the jury to convict Mr. Spear multiple times based on the same act.

The prosecution charged Mr. Spear with five counts all based on the identical charging period with the same complainant. CP 3-4. Neither the complainant nor any other witness identified any of the incidents by date or distinguishing event. RP 277-87. Instead, the prosecution presented only generalized testimony.

The court never told the jury it must rely on separate and distinct acts for each count, even when the jury asked if the acts had to be different. CP 83, 101. Instead, the court read to the jury identical "to convict" instructions for each count of rape and each count of molestation based on conduct occurring during the identical period. CP 87-89, 93-94.

Although the court instructed the jury a separate crime was charged in each count and that it must unanimously agree which act the prosecution proved, it did not instruct the jury an act forming the basis for one count could not also form the basis for another count. CP 78-79, 83, 91. This permitted the jury to convict Mr. Spear multiple times based on the same act, in violation of the prohibition against double jeopardy and in conflict with this Court's opinion in *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at 661-64. U.S. Const. amend. V; Const. art. I, § 9; *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1969), *overruled on other grounds by Alabama v. Smith*, 490 U.S. 794, 109 S. Ct. 2201, 104 L. Ed. 2d 865 (1989).

b. The Court of Appeals properly recognized the lack of a separate and distinct act instruction was error, but it ignored the clear evidence of the jury's confusion and disregarded the strict review of double jeopardy violations required by this Court.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged the prohibition against double jeopardy demands, "When the State provides evidence of multiple acts that could form the basis of more than

one of the crimes charged, the trial court should instruct the jury that each count must be based on a separate and distinct act." Slip op. at 11. It also recognized the generalized evidence the prosecution presented required a separate and distinct instruction under this Court's holding in *Mutch*, but that "the instructions failed to inform the jury that each count must be based on a separate and distinct act." Slip op. at 12.

Despite the admitted failure of the court to instruct the jury each count must be based on separate and distinct acts, the opinion excused the instructional failing. The opinion reasoned that because the court told the jurors a separate crime was charged in each count and that it must decide each count separately and unanimously agree on the act supporting a count, the jurors must have also understood that each count required a separate and distinct act. Slip op. at 12-13. The Court of Appeals also forgave the separate and distinct act error because courts "presume that the jury follows the court's instructions." Slip op. at 13. This ignores *Mutch*'s requirement that courts

conduct a "rigorous" and "strict" review of double jeopardy challenges. 171 Wn.2d at 664.

The fatal flaw in the court's instructions was that without a separate and distinct act requirement, the court's instructions permitted the jury to base its verdict for each of the five counts on the same act. The court never informed the jury the particular act had to be different for each count. The jury could reasonably read the instructions and still base each of the five counts on the same single act. Thus, the opinion's reliance on the instructions the court gave is misplaced. The remaining instructions and the presumption that jurors follow those instructions cannot correct the double jeopardy violation.

Mutch, 171 Wn.2d at 664.

The opinion also ignores the alternative requirement of a clear election and instead pretends the prosecution's general statements in closing cure the error. Slip op. at 13-14. To save flawed instructions, a prosecutor's election must clearly and explicitly identify the incident on which the prosecutor relies

for a particular count *and* must disclaim its intent to rely on other possible acts. *State v. Carson*, 184 Wn.2d 207, 228-29, 228 n.15, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015); *State v. Sage*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 685, 696, 407 P.3d 359 (2017). Here, the prosecution did neither. *See* RP 517-29. Where a prosecutor merely "emphasize[s]" one act over others but does not "expressly elect to rely only on" one act "in seeking the conviction," the prosecution does not make a clear election. *State v. Kier*, 164 Wn.2d 798, 811-13, 194 P.3d 212 (2008); *State v. Williams*, 136 Wn. App. 486, 497, 150 P.3d 111 (2007).

The Court of Appeals also misapplied *Mutch* when it refused to credit the contrary evidence of the jurors' confusion and ignored its note demonstrating it did not understand it had to decide each charge based on a separate and distinct act. Slip op. at 14. The jury's question demonstrates it did not understand or rely on separate and distinct acts in arriving at its verdict, despite any arguments the prosecution made. CP 101. The Court of Appeals ignored this confusion because it

believed the prosecution's closing argument "focused" the jury on a separate act for each count. Slip op. at 14. But the prosecutor did not select a specific act for each count while disavowing reliance on other acts. And the jury's note demonstrates this legal requirement was not manifestly apparent to the jury, either through the court's instructions or the prosecution's argument, contrary to the constitutional mandate. *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at 664.

c. This Court should grant review to address the ongoing disregard for this Court's opinion in *Mutch* and the failure to enforce double jeopardy prohibitions.

The five convictions based on potentially the same act violates Mr. Spear's right against double jeopardy. The Court of Appeals opinion misapplies *Mutch*'s rigorous and strict review of the record standard. It ignores the obvious confusion reflected in the jury's note to find this constitutional requirement was manifestly apparent. Slip. op. at 14. This case is not "a rare circumstance" where the court's admittedly deficient instructions can be excused. *Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d at

665. This Court should accept review to correct the misapplication of *Mutch*, clarify the requirement to give a separate and distinct act instruction, and resolve the significant constitutional double jeopardy issue.

2. The court's refusal to answer the jury's question about its confusion over the law disregards its duties and merits review.

"Do all 3 counts have to be a different act?" CP 83. "Do we have to be unanimous on all counts?" CP 74. The jury asked two clear questions about how to consider the generalized testimony it heard about multiple acts and incidents in light of the identical legal instructions it received for identical multiple counts. The jury never got a responsive answer. The court did not tell the jury its verdict had to be unanimous. Instead, each time the court simply told the jury to reread the original instructions. After twice requesting answers and receiving none, the jurors gave up asking for clarification.

The notes demonstrate the jury neither relied on separate and distinct acts in arriving at its verdict nor understood it must

be unanimous in its verdicts. The court's incomplete and confusing instructions and its failure to answer the jury's questions permitted the jury to convict Mr. Spear multiple times based on the same act and without unanimity.

Due process demands that jury instructions must correctly state the law and "must make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror." State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 473, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). Where the instructions do not inform the jury of the correct law or mislead the jury, the instructions fail to satisfy the constitutional demands of a fair trial. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 105, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). Jury instructions that fail to convey the necessary legal standard to the jury accurately and completely are an error of constitutional magnitude, and prejudice is presumed. State v. LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, 900, 913 P.2d 369 (1996); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3.

The Court of Appeals found the court's original instructions sufficed because they said the jury had to be unanimous. Slip op. at 14-16. But this focus on the original instructions misapprehends the error. Although the court instructed the jury it needed to be unanimous, it also instructed the jury it need not unanimously agree Mr. Spear committed all the acts. CP 78, 83, 91. The instructions, read as a whole, confused the jury and did not make the constitutional requirement of unanimity manifestly apparent to the jury.

The jury's confusion is evident in its note asking, "Do we have to be unanimous on all counts." CP 74. Mr. Spear requested the court answer yes, it had to be unanimous on any verdict it reached on any count. RP 559-60. But the court refused Mr. Spear's proposed response and simply told the jury to reread the same instructions that caused the jurors' confusion. CP 74.

When a court is "[c]onfronted with an inquiry that show[s] the jury misunderstood the applicable law, the court

[is] obligated to correct the jury's misunderstanding." *State v. Sanjurjo-Bloom*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 120, 128, 479 P.3d 1195 (2021). It is "incumbent upon the trial court to issue a corrective instruction" when a deliberating jury indicates an erroneous understanding of the law that applies in a case. *State v. Campbell*, 163 Wn. App. 394, 402, 260 P.3d 235 (2011).³ Where a deliberating jury seeks clarification on the law, "Trial judges should make every effort to respond fully and fairly to questions from deliberating jurors. Judges should not merely refer them to the instructions without further comment." Wash. State Jury Comm'n Recommendation 38 (2000 Report).

The court has a duty to clarify the law when it can, not simply provide a "generic response" referring back to the original instructions. *State v. Backemeyer*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 841, 849, 428 P.3d 366 (2018). "When a jury makes explicit its

³ The *Campbell* court reversed on reconsideration because the underlying law changed, but the discussion of the duty to make jury instructions manifestly clear remains good law. 172 Wn. App. 1009 (2012) (unpub.).

difficulties a trial judge should clear them away with concrete accuracy." *Id.* at 849-50 (quoting *Bollenbach v. United States*, 326 U.S. 607, 612-13, 66 S. Ct. 402, 90 L. Ed. 350 (1946)).

The court should not robotically tell the jury to reread the instructions. Where a jury's question suggests a misunderstanding of the law, the court needs to offer further instructions. *Campbell*, 163 Wn. App. at 402.

In *Sanjurjo-Bloom*, for example, the jury's note demonstrated it misunderstood a police witness' testimony about prior contact with Mr. Sanjurjo-Bloom and was improperly considering the testimony as propensity evidence.

16 Wn. App. 2d at 127-28. The defense requested a limiting instruction, but the court instead "compounded its error" by telling the jury to base its decision on the evidence already admitted. *Id.* at 128. The court held the trial court's failure to give a limiting instruction when the jury's note indicated the jurors misapprehended the law was error. *Id.* Because the jury's question "went to the heart of th[e] issue" and because

the evidence was sufficient but not overwhelming, it reversed the conviction. *Id.* at 129.

Here, the jury asked if it had to be unanimous. The correct answer was yes. Like *Sanjurjo-Bloom*, the jury's note demonstrated its confusion over a legal requirement. Like *Sanjurjo-Bloom*, the court refused to answer the question and instead referred it back to the instructions. The court's refusal to answer the jury's question and to tell the jurors it must be unanimous violated Mr. Spear's rights to unanimous verdict and to a fair trial.

The Court of Appeals improperly rejected Mr. Spear's challenge because the trial court instructed the jury on unanimity in its original instructions. Slip op. at 14-16. This misunderstands the error and disregards the evidence the jury did not understand the requirement, despite those instructions.

The Court of Appeals also validated the trial court's concern that answering the jury's question about this legal requirement could have violated CrR 6.15. RP 560; Slip op. at

16 n.6. But properly and accurately answering a jury's question on the law does not suggest the jury should reach a verdict.

This confusion over the bounds of a court's ability to answer legal questions demonstrates the lower courts need this Court's guidance on the proper ways to respond to jury notes.

Mr. Spear was entitled to instructions that made the law manifestly clear to the jury. *LeFaber*, 128 Wn.2d at 902-03. The court's refusal to give Mr. Spear's suggested response that answered the jury's question and accurately stated the law deprived Mr. Spear of a fair trial.

The court's failure to provide any direct answer reflects a misunderstanding of a court's responsibility to address jury questions, is a constitutional violation, and a matter of substantial public interest meriting this Court's review.

3. The Court of Appeals's misunderstanding of the difference between a person's criminal history and offender score caused it to affirm Mr. Spear's sentence even though the State failed in its constitutional obligation to prove comparability.

The trial court included in Mr. Spear's offender score two Idaho prior convictions. CP 110. But the prosecution did not prove these convictions were comparable to Washington felonies. The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Spear's challenge to his unlawful sentence based on an incorrect offender score because it misunderstood the difference between a person's *criminal history* and his *offender score* and improperly conflated these two distinct concepts. This Court should accept review because Mr. Spear's sentence violates the constitution and SRA and conflicts with decisions of this Court that recognize the prosecution's obligation to prove a person's offender score.

a. The government must prove both criminal history and offender score.

The prosecution bears the burden of proving a person's criminal history and offender score. *State v. Cate*, 194 Wn.2d

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