FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/11/2021 2:18 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100210-6 COA No. 533901-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BYRON SPEAR

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Erik D. Price, Judge Cause No. 18-1-01421-34

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

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

C. ARGUMENT.

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals follows this Court's decision in *State v. Mutch* and correctly found that the entirety of the proceedings made it manifestly apparent that the State was not attempting to convict Spear on multiple counts based on a single act.

Where the State charges a defendant with multiple counts of the same offense or multiple offenses potentially based on the same act, the State must prove to the jury that a different act forms the basis of each count. State v. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d 646, 661-64, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). In Mutch, the defendant argued

that vague jury instructions allowed the possibility that the jury erroneously convicted him of all five counts based on only a single criminal act. <u>Id</u>. at 662. The "to convict" instructions in Mutch's case for each rape count were nearly identical and there was not an instruction requiring that there be a separate and distinct act. <u>Id</u>. at 663.

This Court noted that:

. . . flawed jury instructions that permit a jury to convict a defendant of multiple counts based on a single act do not necessarily mean that the defendant received multiple punishments for the same offense; it simply means that the defendant potentially received multiple punishments for the same offense.

Id.

When reviewing a double jeopardy allegation, "an appellate court may review the entire record to establish what was before the Court." State v. Noltie, 116 Wn.2d 831, 848, 809 P.2d 190 (1991).

Considering the evidence, arguments, and instructions, if it is not clear that it was manifestly apparent to the jury that the State was not seeking

to impose multiple punishments for the same offense, and that each count was based on a separate act, there is a double jeopardy violation.

Mutch, 171 Wn.2d at 646. After considering the entire record, the Mutch Court found that it was "manifestly apparent to the jury that each count represented a separate act." Id. at 665-666. The Court stated there is no double jeopardy violation when the information, instruction, testimony, and argument clearly demonstrate that the State was not seeking to impose multiple punishments for the same offense. Id. at 664.

Mutch and reviewed the totality of the record. The record in this case makes it manifestly apparent that the jury convicted Spears on factually separate and distinct acts. While the closing instructions to the jury did not included an instruction on separate and distinct acts, several other factors informed the jury that the actions must be based on separate acts. First, the information charged each offense, separate and distinct from all other counts. CP 3-4. During his opening remarks to the venire,

prior to jury selection, the trial court informed the panel that the information alleged that each count was a separate and distinct act from all other counts. RP 31-32.

The trial court gave individual "to convict" instructions, each of which contained the element "that *this* act occurred in the State of Washington." RP 505-509, CP 87-89, RP 508-510, CP 93-94 (emphasis added). This fact is one of several ways that this case is distinguishable from <u>State v. Borsheim</u>, 140 Wn. App. 357, 165 P.3d 417 (2017), which Spear relies upon. In that case, the trial court provided a single to convict instruction that read, "To convict the defendant of the crime of Rape of a Child in the First Degree, as charged in counts 1, 2, 3, and 4 …" <u>Id</u>. at 364.5

The trial court also gave separate unanimity instructions for rape of a child and child molestation, and a "separate consideration" instruction. RP 503-504, CP 78, RP 508, CP 91,

Borsheim was decided prior to Mutch and the Court considered only the jury instructions instead of the entire record. 140 Wn. App. at 370.

RP 501-502, CP 79. Importantly, the prosecutor in this case made it abundantly clear that each count was based on a separate and distinct act during her closing argument. She stated:

Each of the to convict instructions for the first three counts where exactly the same. You have to find a separate instances or separate incidents for each one. You have to be unanimous in that each one has a separate time, but they all look the same.

RP 528. The prosecutor described ways in which the jury could find three "different" acts occurred arguing:

You can use that the defendant licked [A.R.S.] on three different occasions, licked her vagina. You can use that he licked her vagina and put his finger on her vagina. You can use that he licked her vagina, put his finger in her vagina, and that his penis penetrated her vagina, however, slight, even though it was going up and down, but you have to be unanimous as to which three happened. All 12 people have to agrees (sic) on each count, and each count has to be a separate act.

RP 529. It was manifestly apparent from the State's closing argument that the prosecutor was not seeking to convict on more than one count based on a single act.

The jury's question, "Do all three counts need to be a different act or can they be multiple occurrences of the same type of act," does not indicate that the jury was confused about the need for separate and distinct acts for each count. CP 101. The question gave two options, multiple occurrences of the same type of act, or different acts. The question does not imply that the jury was asking if they convict for multiple offenses based on a single act. It demonstrated that they were considering the multiple different types of acts that Spear committed against A.R.S. and the five to ten incidents of oral sex that he committed. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the jury's question was regarding the "type of act." <u>Unpublished Decision</u>, at 14. When viewed in the context of the entire record, it is clear that the jury did not convict Spear of multiple offenses based on a single act. There was no double jeopardy violation. The Court of Appeals did not err in so finding.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the trial court's instructions clearly informed the jury that they needed to be unanimous and the trial court did not abuse its discretion by asking the jury to reread the jury instructions in response to the jury's question.

The trial court properly instructed the jury of the need to reach a unanimous verdict on each count. RP 503-504, CP 78, RP 508, CP 91. It was proper for the instructions to include that the "jury need not unanimously agree that the defendant committed all of the acts of rape of a child or child molestation because A.R.S. testified to between five to ten acts of oral sex. RP 503-504, CP 78, RP 508, CP 91, RP 280. Additionally, Instruction 19 indicated, "Because this is a criminal case, each of you must agree for you to return a verdict. When all of you have so agreed, fill in the verdict forms to express your decision." CP 97.

The instructions made the requirement of unanimity clear. The jury asked, "Upon reading Instruction 7, do we have to be unanimous on all counts? If we do not have a unanimous vote, how is it reported on the verdict forms?" RP 558, CP 74.

The question does not indicate that the jury was confused as to whether or not they needed to be unanimous to reach a verdict. The clear implication in the question is that the jury had reached a unanimous decision on some of the charges, but not all at that point. The second part of the question, "if we do not have a unanimous vote, how is it reported on the verdict forms?" indicates that they were aware that they needed to be unanimous in order to write either guilty or not guilty. Their question asked what they were supposed to do if they were not unanimous.

The trial court was justifiably concerned about how to draft a response. CrR 6.15(f)(2) directs that the "court shall not instruct the jury in such a way to suggest the need for agreement, the consequences of no agreement, or the length of time a jury will be required to deliberate." The trial court crafted his answer to the jury's question with that in mind. RP 559-562. Spear's attorney suggested that the answer inform the jury that any verdict must be unanimous. RP 559-560.

Instructions 7, 15 and 19, already made that clear. RP 503-504, CP 78, RP 508, CP 91, CP 97.

Unlike the cases cited to by Spear where the trial court should have provided a clearer answer, the trial court here could not provide a clear answer to the jury's question without the potential for violating CrR 6.15(f)(2). The response directing the jury to reread the instructions was correct. The instructions regarding a unanimous verdict were clear and the trial court could not provide further clarity. Even if the trial court had given the answer proposed by defense counsel, it would have merely mimicked the existing instructions. The instructions regarding unanimity were clear.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by instructing the jury to reread the jury instructions. <u>Unpublished Opinion</u>, at 16. There is no reason upon which this Court should accept review of this issue.

3. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Spear's challenge to his offender score.

RCW 9.94A.525 sets forth the process for calculating an offender score. Generally speaking, each prior felony conviction that has not washed out counts as one point. RCW 9.94A.525(1) and (2). Out-of-state convictions are to be classified according to the comparable Washington offense. RCW 9.94A.525(3). If a defendant affirmatively acknowledges his criminal history, the State is not required to produce the evidence to support it. State v. Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d 913, 920, 205 P.3d 113 (2009).

Although the State generally bears the burden of proving the existence and comparability of a defendant's prior out-of-state and/or federal convictions, we have stated a defendant's affirmative acknowledgment that his prior out-of-state and/or federal convictions are properly included in his offender score satisfies SRA requirements.

State v. Ross, 152 Wn.2d 220, 230, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004), citing to State v. Catling, 137 Wn.2d 472, 483 n.5, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). Mere failure to object to the State's summary of

criminal history does not constitute an acknowledgment, even if the defendant agrees with the State's standard range calculation.

Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d. at 928.

Spear and his counsel affirmatively acknowledged that the Idaho offenses were properly included in his offender score. CP 102, 2 RP 12. As such, neither the State nor the trial court were required to do more to satisfy the SRA. State v. Ross, 152 Wn.2d at 230. Even if Spear had not made such an affirmative acknowledgment, the State presented sufficient evidence to demonstrate that his Idaho convictions were factually comparable to Washington statutes and were properly included in his offender score. There was no error in calculating Spear's offender score.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the signed statement of criminal history, with a score sheet attached which included his Idaho convictions in the offender score was an affirmative acknowledgment of the inclusion of his out-of-state convictions. The decision is consistent with this Court's

opinion in <u>Ross</u>. Spear has not demonstrated that review of this issue is appropriate.

4. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the condition of community custody requiring Spear submit to testing and reasonable searches to comply with conditions is consistent with RCW 9.94A.631 and any challenge is premature until Spear is subject to testing.

The condition that Spear seeks review of specifically states, "to verify compliance, submit to testing and reasonable searches of your person, residence and vehicle." CP 123.

A sentencing court can require an offender to perform "affirmative acts necessary to monitor compliance" with the community custody conditions. RCW 9.94A.030(10); <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Brettel</u>, 6 Wn. App.2d 161, 173, 430 P.3d 677 (2018). The search and testing provision is limited to reasonable searches. The trial court was well within the law in authorizing the monitoring conditions. Even without the trial court adopting the condition, the legislature has provided that,

if there is reasonable cause to believe that an offender has violated a condition or requirement of

the sentence, a community corrections officer may require an offender to submit to a search and seizure of the offender's person, residence, automobile, or other personal property.

RCW 9.94A.631(1). The Court of Appeals correctly found that the decision was authorized by law.

Because the condition is authorized by statute, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that review of the condition would only be appropriate with further factual development. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and this Court. State v. Massey, 81 Wn. App. 198, 200-201, 913 P.2d 424 (1996), State v. Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 789, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010). In State v. Cates, 183 Wn.2d 531, 354 P.3d 832 (2015), this Court considered a similar argument stating,

it is undisputed that the community custody condition is a final action and Cates' challenge raises primarily legal issues. We thus consider only whether further factual development is required and the risk of hardship to Cates if we decline to address the merits of his challenge at this time.

<u>Id</u>. at 534-535. Noting that compliance with the condition did not require Cates to do anything until the State requests and conducts a home visit, this Court found that Cates would not "suffer significant risk of hardship" if the court declined review of the merits in the absence of developed facts. <u>Id</u>. at 536.

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with case law. The decision did not err by finding, "Because the condition is permitted by statute and Spear has not been subjected to a search, Spear's claim fails." <u>Unpublished Decision</u>, at 22.

D. CONCLUSION.

Spear has not demonstrated that review by this Court is appropriate under RAP 13.4. As such, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny Spear's Petition for Review.

//

//

//

In compliance with RAP 18.17(b), counsel certifies that the word processing software calculates the number of words in this document as 4552, exclusive of words exempted by the rule.